The Impact of Weight Loss on the Regression of Barrett's Esophagus after Roux-en-

Y Near Esophagojejunostomy as an Anti-reflux Operation

by

Dongning Zhang

B.S., University of California, Los Angeles, 2011M.D., University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, 2016

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Multidisciplinary Master of Public Health

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

University of Pittsburgh

2021

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This essay is submitted

by

Dongning Zhang

on

April 28, 2021 (can be the date you expect first signature)

and approved by

Essay Advisor: Omar Awais, D.O, Assistant Professor, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh

Essay Reader: Arjun Pennathur, M.D., Associate Professor, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh

Essay Reader: David Finegold, M.D., Professor, Department of Human Genetics, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Dongning Zhang

2021

The Impact of Weight Loss on the Regression of Barrett's Esophagus after Roux-en-Y Near Esophagojejunostomy as an Anti-reflux Operation

Dongning Zhang, MPH

University of Pittsburgh, 2021

Abstract

Objective: Gastroesophageal reflux (GERD), obesity and Barrett's esophagus (BE) have been implicated in the dramatic rise in esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC), particularly in western countries. Previous studies have shown that obesity correlates with GERD. Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RNYGB) can address obesity and be effective as an anti-reflux procedure. We investigated our hypothesis that weight loss associated with RNYGB for GERD, may lead to regression of BE.

Methods: This was a retrospective analysis of patients who underwent RNYGB as anti-reflux procedure. Patients with BMI \geq 25kg/m² with biopsy-proven diagnosis of intestinal metaplasia (IM), confirmed endoscopic BE segment measurement, and post-operative surveillance endoscopy were included in the study. Pre-operative and post-operative weights at each follow-up endoscopic visit were recorded; post RNYGB weight loss was quantified using percent total weight loss, with \geq 20% TWL within two years classified as successful weight loss. Events of BE regression were analyzed using survival analysis. Estimation of the BE regression events were obtained using the Kaplan-Meier estimator.

Results: We identified 29 patients that met all inclusion criteria. During median follow-up of 25 months, after RNYGB, 15 patients experienced regression. 14 patients did not. The regression group was significantly younger than the no-regression group (p=0.04), and had a trend towards having shorter preoperative BE segments and achieving greater %TWL within two years. There were no significant differences for other variables. Younger age and successful weight loss were found to significantly contribute to early BE regression.

Conclusions: There was regression of BE in over 50% of patients who had undergone Roux-en-Y for GERD. Successful weight loss and young age were associated with a trend in achieving early regression of BE. Future studies with a larger group of patients are necessary to further delineate the effects of RNYGB and weight loss on BE, and other factors associated with regression of BE.

Public Health Relevance: Results of this study offer further evidence to update current practice guidelines in support of the use of RNYGB to manage GERD in the obese population by simultaneously addressing reflux and weight loss.

Table of Contents

1.0 Background 1
2.0 Patients and Methods 3
2.1 Patient Selection
2.2 Preoperative Evaluation 4
2.3 Surgical Technique 4
2.4 Postoperative Follow-up 6
2.5 Statistical Design and Data Analysis6
3.0 Results
3.1 Patient Characteristics7
3.2 Comparing patients with BE regression and patients without BE regression
3.3 Modeling Regression Events Using Survival Analysis
4.0 Discussion
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1. Patient characteristics	.7
Table 2. Comparing patients with BE regression and patients without BE regression	.9

List of Figures

Figure 1. Roux-en-Y near esophagojejunostomy	5
Figure 2. Comparing BE regression by age	
Figure 3. Comparing BE regression by BE segment length	
Figure 4. Comparing BE regression by weight loss	
Figure 5. Comparing BE regression by age and weight loss	

1.0 Background

Gastroesophageal reflux (GERD), obesity and Barrett's esophagus (BE) have been implicated in the dramatic rise in esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC), particularly in western countries(Coleman, Xie, & Lagergren, 2018; Pennathur, Gibson, Jobe, & Luketich, 2013). In patients with GERD, BE develops when the stratified squamous epithelium in the distal esophagus is replaced by metaplastic columnar epithelium; and it predisposes to the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) (American Gastroenterological et al., 2011; Pennathur et al., 2013). BE is a known precursor to EAC. The risk of developing EAC is 30-fold above general population in patients with BE compared to the general population(Hvid-Jensen, Pedersen, Drewes, Sorensen, & Funch-Jensen, 2011). Metaplasia develops with chronic tissue injury associated with acid exposure by GERD (Souza, 2007). Carcinogenesis occurs when Acid and bile salts induce DNA damage, causing genetic and epigenetic changes(Huo et al., 2011; Morales, Souza, & Spechler, 2002). In addition to acid exposure, obesity is correlated with GERD(Fisher, Pennathur, Mutnick, & Little, 1999), and is an additional risk factor for developing BE. Increased BMI is associated with development of long segment BE(Abdallah, Maradey-Romero, Lewis, Perzynski, & Fass, 2015; Almers, Graham, Havel, & Corley, 2015). In addition, it is also a predictor for EAC regardless of the presence of GERD symptoms (Hoyo et al., 2012). Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RNYGB) is an appealing option for obese patients with intractable GERD. It has been shown effective in treating intractable GERD after prior failed anti-reflux operations(Awais et al., 2014; Awais et al., 2008; Frezza et al., 2002; Makris et al., 2012; Perry et al., 2004) and in promoting BE regression (Andrew, Alley, Aguilar, & Fanelli, 2018; Braghetto et al., 2012; Csendes, Burgos, Smok, Burdiles, & Henriquez, 2006; Gorodner et al., 2017; Houghton, Romero,

& Sarr, 2008). It combines the advantage of reducing acid reflux, reducing bile reflux, and weight loss. However, little is known about the effect of any confounding factors in the patient population in affecting BE's disease process. In this study, we investigated our hypothesis that weight loss associated with RNYGB for GERD may be an important contributor to regression of BE.

2.0 Patients and Methods

2.1 Patient Selection

We retrospectively reviewed our experience with RNYGB as primary and re-operative anti-reflux operation for patients with diagnosis of BE and are overweight (BMI>25kg/m2) at the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center between 2005 and 2019. This study was approved by the institutional review board. Individual patient consent was waived due to its retrospective nature.

We used the following as our inclusion criteria for the study: preoperative diagnosis of GERD unresponsive to medical treatment or failed previous anti-reflux operation(s), preoperative diagnosis of BE confirmed by endoscopic and histological examination, preoperative BMI greater than or equal to 25kg/m², and post-operative endoscopic examinations confirming presence or absence of BE segments. Diagnosis of BE requires presence of intestinal metaplasia on histology. A total 282 patients who underwent Roux-en-Y as anti-reflux procedures were identified. Among these patients, 235 were excluded for not having pre-operative diagnosis of BE or having BMI less than 25kg/m². Out of the 47 remaining patients, 18 were excluded for not having post-operative surveillance endoscopy. A total of 29 patients met all criteria and were included in the study.

To insert a caption, right-click on the figure and select Insert Caption. It should be noted that captions go below image for figures but are placed above a table.

2.2 Preoperative Evaluation

Patients that were candidates for Roux-en-Y as anti-reflux operation underwent comprehensive preoperative evaluation and testing. Complete history and physical examinations were obtained. All patients were counseled regarding postop dietary modification and potential peri-operative complications. Testing includes barium esophagram, esophageal manometry, gastric emptying study, and esophagogastroduodenoscopy. During endoscopic examinations, BE segment length was measured and recorded. Standard 4 quadrant biopsies every 1cm or 2cm within BE segment were taken (Asge Standards Of Practice et al., 2019) and submitted for pathology. Demographic and clinical variables collected include age, sex, preoperative BMI, smoking history, and redo surgery status.

2.3 Surgical Technique

Our preferred surgical approach, Roux-en-Y near esophagojejunostomy (RNYNEJ) has been detailed in previous publication(Awais et al., 2008). Briefly, on-table endoscopy was performed for all cases. In patients with prior anti-reflux operations, fundoplication was laparoscopically taken down after complete hiatal mobilization. In patients undergoing RNYNEJ as their primary operation, complete hiatal mobilization was also performed if there was evidence of hiatal hernia. Identification of gastroesophageal (GE) junction was then achieved by removing the GE fat pad. For re-operative patients, the integrity of cardia, fundus, and both vagi were evaluated followed by a leak test by insufflation of air. Next a small, 5- to 10-ml gastric pouch consisting of only cardia was constructed, followed by creation of a 75- to100cm, retro-colic, retrogastric Roux limb (Figure 1). All potential defects were closed. Gastrostomy tubes and JP drains were selectively placed. A postoperative barium swallow was typically performed on postoperative day 2 or 3.



Figure 1. Roux-en-Y near esophagojejunostomy.

This procedure is typically performed laparoscopically. It is characterized by a small gastric pouch consisting only of gastric cardia, and a retro-colic, retro-gastric roux limb. Gastrostomy tubes were placed selectively.

2.4 Postoperative Follow-up

On discharge, all patients were prescribed with lifelong oral vitamins and intramuscular B_{12} injections. Reflux symptoms, postoperative weight loss, and comorbid medical conditions were evaluated during follow-up visits every 3 months for the first year and then yearly after that. Percent excess body weight loss (%EBWL= [Initial Weight - Postop Weight]/ [Initial Weight - Ideal Weight]×100%)(Brethauer et al., 2015) and percent total weight loss (%TWL = [(initial weight) -(postop weight)]/[(initial weight)] × 100%) was calculated for each postoperative visit up to two years. Successful weight loss was defined as ≥20%TWL before the 2-year mark(Grover et al., 2019). Postoperative surveillance endoscopy was performed for all patients. BE segment length was measured when applicable. Regression of BE was defined as absence/resolution of BE or reduced BE segment length. Progression of BE was defined as increase in BE segment length or development of dysplasia.

2.5 Statistical Design and Data Analysis

Events of BE regression were analyzed using survival analysis. The regression curves were constructed using the Kaplan-Meier estimator. The timing of regression events was determined by postoperative endoscopic exams.

3.0 Results

3.1 Patient Characteristics

A total of 29 patients met all criteria and were included in the study. Patient characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**. The median age was 58 years (range 29-70 years); there were 14 (48.3% [14 of 29]) men and 15 (52.7% [15 of 29]) women. The median preoperative BMI was 37.9 kg/m² (range 26.9-55.2 kg/m²). 12 of 29 (41.4%) patients had history of smoking. Median preoperative BE segment length was 3cm (range 0.1-1cm, 0.1 cm indicates focal area of BE with length too small to measure). 14 of 29 (48.3%) patients underwent redo operations while the rest as first-time anti-reflux operation. Median Roux limb length based on operative report was 90cm (range 70-150cm). Median %EBWL at 1-year was 73.7% (range 10.7-194.6%). Median %TWL by two years was 23.9% (range 2.3% - 46.3%). 18 of 29 (62.1%) patients achieved successful weight loss by two years. 15 of 29 patients experienced BE regression. 11 of these patients had complete BE regression evidenced by the lack of intestinal metaplasia on histology. Four patients had partial regression. 14 patients did not experience BE regression. Of these patients, three had no change in BE length; 11 had increase of BE length (seven eventually received radio frequency ablation therapy). None of the patients developed dysplasia. The median follow-up time was 25 months, with range being 2 to 136 months.

Table 1. Patient characteristics

Characteristics

Age	(vears)):	median	(range)
1150	(Jearb)	••	meanan	(Tunge)

Sex (male/female)

14/15

Preop BMI (kg/m ²): median (range)	37.9 (26.9 – 55.2)
History of smoking: yes/no	12/17
Preop BE length (cm): median (range)	3 (0.1-11)
BE segment length: SSBE/LSBE	17/12
Redo surgery: yes/no	14/15
Roux limb length (cm) ^a : median (range)	90 (70-150)
Follow up time (month): median (range)	25 (2-136)
%EBWL at 1-year (%) ^b : median (range)	73.7 (10.7, 194.6)
% TWL by 2 years (%) ^c : median (range)	23.9 (2.3, 46.3)
Successful weight loss: yes/no	18/10
BE regression: yes/no	15/14

BE = Barrett's Esophagus. %EBWL = percent excess body weight loss. %TWL= percent total weight loss. LSBE = long segment BE. SSBE = short segment BE.

^a 1 patient did not have recorded roux limb length

^b 2 patients did not have weight measurement at 1-year post-op

^c 1 patient did not have weight measurement at 2-year post-op

3.2 Comparing patients with BE regression and patients without BE regression

Patient characteristics between regression and no-regression group are compared and summarized in **Table 2**. The age was significantly younger in patients who experienced regression than those who did not. Patients who experienced BE regression tend to have shorter preop BE segment length, and higher %TWL compared to those who did not. However, the difference was

not statistically significant. There was no significant difference in sex composition, preoperative BMI, smoking status, pack-year smoking history, redo status, follow up time, Roux limb length, or %EWBL between the two groups of patients.

Variable	Regression	No Regression	Statistic	P-value
	N=15	N= 14		
	Median (range) or	Median (range) or		
	N, %	N, %		
Age (year)	54 (39-70)	60 (29-70)	Z ^a =2.03	0.04^{*}
Sex (male)	8, 53.3%	6, 42.9%	P ^b =0.72	0.72
Preop BMI (kg/m ²)	39.1 (28.7-55.2)	33.1 (26.9-47.7)	Z ^a =-0.66	0.51
Smoking (yes)	7, 46.7%	5, 35.7%	P ^b =0.71	0.71
Preop BE length	1 (0.1-7)	4 (0.1-11)	Z ^a =1.60	0.11
(cm)				
Redo (yes)	6, 40%	8, 57.1%	P ^b =0.47	0.47
Roux limb length	100 (70-150)	85 (75-150)	Z ^a =-0.51	0.61
(cm)				
Follow up time	25 (2-114)	22 (3-136)	Z ^a =0.31	0.76
(month)				
%EBWL (%)	82.8 (10.7-194.6)	72.3 (24.0-176.0)	Z ^a =-0.68	0.50
%TWL (%)	29.0 (2.5 - 46.3)	20.6 (2.3 - 39.1)	Z ^a =-1.36	0.17

Table 2. Comparing patients with BE regression and patients without BE regression

* p<0.05

^a Wilcoxon rank-sum test

^b Fisher's exact test

%EBWL = percent excess body weight loss. %TWL= percent total weight loss.

3.3 Modeling Regression Events Using Survival Analysis

BE regression events were modeled using survival analysis. The model was first fit by age groups (age \geq 65 years and age < 65 years) and plotted in Figure 2. The younger group achieved regression significantly sooner than the older group (p = 0.046, exact log-rank test). More than 60% of young patients achieve BE regression within the first three years after RNYNEJ. In contrast, after more than 10 years of follow up, less than 40% of older patients experienced BE regression. Next the model was fit by preop BE segment length. Long segment BE (LSBE) represents BE segment greater than 3cm. Short segment BE (SSBE) represents BE segment less than or equal to 3cm. Patients with SSBE showed a trend to experience regression sooner than those with LSBE, but the difference was not significant (p = 0.32, exact log-rank test, Figure 3). Next the model was fit by weight-loss status (achieving $\geq 20\%$ TWL is considered successful weight loss, see Figure 4). The group that achieved weight-loss success experienced BE regression sooner than the group not achieving weight-loss success (p = 0.019, exact log-rank test, Figure 4). Among patients with successful weight loss, more than 50% achieve regression within three years. Within this time frame some patients with unsuccessful weight loss experiences regression, too. However, the rest fails to do so at the end of their follow-up period. Finally, the model was fit by combining age and weight-loss status, shown in Figure 5. Young patients with successful weight loss were the group that achieved regression the quickest (p=0.046, exact k-sample log-rank test).



Figure 2. Comparing BE regression by age.



Figure 3. Comparing BE regression by BE segment length.



Figure 4. Comparing BE regression by weight loss.



Figure 5. Comparing BE regression by age and weight loss.

4.0 Discussion

In this study, we found that 51.7% (15 out of 29) patients had regression of their BE after RNYGB. These patients had significantly younger age, and trends towards having shorter preop BE segments and achieving more weight loss postoperatively compared to patients who did not experience regression. Furthermore, using survival analysis, we found that young age (<65 years) and successful weight loss (>=20% TWL within two years) contributes significantly to early BE regression. Results suggest that having short segment BE may be associated with early regression, as well. After combining age and weight loss status, we observed that the cohort with younger age and successful weight loss was most advantageous in achieving early BE regression.

The incidence of EAC is on the rise at the global level, particularly in western countries, and is thought to be related to the prevalence of reflux, obesity, and BE(Malhotra et al., 2017; Pennathur et al., 2013; Uhlenhopp, Then, Sunkara, & Gaduputi, 2020). Recognizing and controlling BE is vital in preventing the development of EAC which is associated with high mortality and morbidity. Acid suppression in the form of proton-pump inhibitor therapy and anti-reflux operations is the mainstay of GERD management. However, the development BE and its malignant transformation is multifactorial(Kambhampati, Tieu, Luber, Wang, & Meltzer, 2020). Obesity is an important risk factor for reflux disease(Fisher et al., 1999), BE, and the development of EAC. It is also associated with high failure rates of fundoplication-type anti-reflux operations(Perez, Moncure, & Rattner, 2001). RNYGB, particularly RNYNEJ, offers multiple benefits to obese patients with medically refractory reflux by combining reduction of acid and bile reflux with weight loss. Multiple studies have been carried out to investigate whether RNYGB can

promote regression of BE. Complete regression in 33% to 57% of patients with variable proportions of incomplete regression has been previously reported(Andrew et al., 2018; Braghetto et al., 2012; Csendes et al., 2006; Gorodner et al., 2017; Houghton et al., 2008). Collectively these studies suggest there is an association between RNYGB and BE regression in obese/overweight patients. However, important confounding factors or covariates such as age, BMI and smoking status were not adjusted for in previous studies. In addition, the factors associated with regression of BE were not previously analyzed.

We identified 29 patients with preoperative diagnosis of BE confirmed by endoscopy and histology and performed RNYNEJ as their anti-reflux procedure. 37.9% of all patients experienced complete BE regression postoperatively. Four patients (13.8%) had partial regression. This finding is similar to previous studies. However, in contrast to previous studies, we observed 11 patients who had BE progression postoperatively even with significant weight loss. This shows the complex nature of the disease process with other potential confounders yet to be discovered and understood. We analyzed various modifiable and non-modifiable confounders proposed by existing literature. Age was found to be significantly younger in patients who experienced BE regression than those who did not. Although no statistical difference was observed, BE segment length and %TWL showed potential difference between patients who experienced BE regression and those who did not.

We utilized survival analysis to model the process of BE regression. We are interested in modifiable variables, particularly weight loss associated with RNYNEJ. We found that young patients and patients with successful weight loss postoperatively experience regression significantly faster than their respective counterparts. Adjusting for both covariates shows that young patients who also had successful weight loss virtually all achieve BE regression 1 year postop. As suggested by previous studies, having short BE segments preoperatively may promote regression. However, the difference did not reach statistical significance.

Our study addresses some of the most important risk factors in BE development and malignant transformation. We observed potential roles that age, weight loss, and preop BE segment length play in the disease process after RNYGB. These results suggest that RNYGB may be considered for obese young patients with short segment BE as anti-reflux operation. To maximize the effect of RNYGB on BE regression, frequent postop counseling and monitoring should be offered to patients to maximize weight loss. Even though some of the analysis did not reach statistical significance, it provided future studies with directions. A major limitation of this study is the small sample size. Due to the retrospective nature, very few patients met all the selection criteria. Future large scale prospective studies are necessary to further delineate the factors contributing to BE regression in patients undergo RNYGB.

Bibliography

- Abdallah, J., Maradey-Romero, C., Lewis, S., Perzynski, A., & Fass, R. (2015). The relationship between length of Barrett's oesophagus mucosa and body mass index. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, *41*(1), 137-144. doi:10.1111/apt.12991
- Almers, L. M., Graham, J. E., Havel, P. J., & Corley, D. A. (2015). Adiponectin May Modify the Risk of Barrett's Esophagus in Patients With Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 13(13), 2256-2264 e2251-2253. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2015.01.009
- American Gastroenterological, A., Spechler, S. J., Sharma, P., Souza, R. F., Inadomi, J. M., & Shaheen, N. J. (2011). American Gastroenterological Association medical position statement on the management of Barrett's esophagus. *Gastroenterology*, 140(3), 1084-1091. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.030
- Andrew, B., Alley, J. B., Aguilar, C. E., & Fanelli, R. D. (2018). Barrett's esophagus before and after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass for severe obesity. *Surg Endosc*, 32(2), 930-936. doi:10.1007/s00464-017-5768-6
- Asge Standards Of Practice, C., Qumseya, B., Sultan, S., Bain, P., Jamil, L., Jacobson, B., . . . Chair, A. S. o. P. C. (2019). ASGE guideline on screening and surveillance of Barrett's esophagus. *Gastrointest Endosc*, *90*(3), 335-359 e332. doi:10.1016/j.gie.2019.05.012
- Awais, O., Luketich, J. D., Reddy, N., Bianco, V., Levy, R. M., Schuchert, M. J., ... Pennathur, A. (2014). Roux-en-Y near esophagojejunostomy for failed antireflux operations: outcomes in more than 100 patients. *Ann Thorac Surg*, 98(6), 1905-1911; discussion 1911-1903. doi:10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.07.004
- Awais, O., Luketich, J. D., Tam, J., Irshad, K., Schuchert, M. J., Landreneau, R. J., & Pennathur, A. (2008). Roux-en-Y near esophagojejunostomy for intractable gastroesophageal reflux after antireflux surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg*, 85(6), 1954-1959; discussion 1959-1961. doi:10.1016/j.athoracsur.2008.01.072
- Braghetto, I., Korn, O., Csendes, A., Gutierrez, L., Valladares, H., & Chacon, M. (2012). Laparoscopic treatment of obese patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease and Barrett's esophagus: a prospective study. *Obes Surg*, 22(5), 764-772. doi:10.1007/s11695-011-0531-x
- Brethauer, S. A., Kim, J., el Chaar, M., Papasavas, P., Eisenberg, D., Rogers, A., . . . Committee, A. C. I. (2015). Standardized outcomes reporting in metabolic and bariatric surgery. *Surg Obes Relat Dis*, 11(3), 489-506. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2015.02.003
- Coleman, H. G., Xie, S. H., & Lagergren, J. (2018). The Epidemiology of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. *Gastroenterology*, 154(2), 390-405. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2017.07.046
- Csendes, A., Burgos, A. M., Smok, G., Burdiles, P., & Henriquez, A. (2006). Effect of gastric bypass on Barrett's esophagus and intestinal metaplasia of the cardia in patients with morbid obesity. *J Gastrointest Surg*, *10*(2), 259-264. doi:10.1016/j.gassur.2005.06.006
- Fisher, B. L., Pennathur, A., Mutnick, J. L., & Little, A. G. (1999). Obesity correlates with gastroesophageal reflux. *Dig Dis Sci*, 44(11), 2290-2294. doi:10.1023/a:1026617106755
- Frezza, E. E., Ikramuddin, S., Gourash, W., Rakitt, T., Kingston, A., Luketich, J., & Schauer, P. (2002). Symptomatic improvement in gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) following

laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Surg Endosc, 16(7), 1027-1031. doi:10.1007/s00464-001-8313-5

- Gorodner, V., Buxhoeveden, R., Clemente, G., Sanchez, C., Caro, L., & Grigaites, A. (2017). Barrett's esophagus after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass: does regression occur? *Surg Endosc*, 31(4), 1849-1854. doi:10.1007/s00464-016-5184-3
- Grover, B. T., Morell, M. C., Kothari, S. N., Borgert, A. J., Kallies, K. J., & Baker, M. T. (2019). Defining Weight Loss After Bariatric Surgery: a Call for Standardization. *Obes Surg*, 29(11), 3493-3499. doi:10.1007/s11695-019-04022-z
- Houghton, S. G., Romero, Y., & Sarr, M. G. (2008). Effect of Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in obese patients with Barrett's esophagus: attempts to eliminate duodenogastric reflux. *Surg Obes Relat Dis*, *4*(1), 1-4; discussion 4-5. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2007.10.003
- Hoyo, C., Cook, M. B., Kamangar, F., Freedman, N. D., Whiteman, D. C., Bernstein, L., . . . Gammon, M. D. (2012). Body mass index in relation to oesophageal and oesophagogastric junction adenocarcinomas: a pooled analysis from the International BEACON Consortium. *Int J Epidemiol*, 41(6), 1706-1718. doi:10.1093/ije/dys176
- Huo, X., Juergens, S., Zhang, X., Rezaei, D., Yu, C., Strauch, E. D., . . . Souza, R. F. (2011). Deoxycholic acid causes DNA damage while inducing apoptotic resistance through NFkappaB activation in benign Barrett's epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 301(2), G278-286. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00092.2011
- Hvid-Jensen, F., Pedersen, L., Drewes, A. M., Sorensen, H. T., & Funch-Jensen, P. (2011). Incidence of adenocarcinoma among patients with Barrett's esophagus. N Engl J Med, 365(15), 1375-1383. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103042
- Kambhampati, S., Tieu, A. H., Luber, B., Wang, H., & Meltzer, S. J. (2020). Risk Factors for Progression of Barrett's Esophagus to High Grade Dysplasia and Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. *Sci Rep*, 10(1), 4899. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-61874-7
- Makris, K. I., Panwar, A., Willer, B. L., Ali, A., Sramek, K. L., Lee, T. H., & Mittal, S. K. (2012). The role of short-limb Roux-en-Y reconstruction for failed antireflux surgery: a singlecenter 5-year experience. *Surg Endosc*, 26(5), 1279-1286. doi:10.1007/s00464-011-2026-1
- Malhotra, G. K., Yanala, U., Ravipati, A., Follet, M., Vijayakumar, M., & Are, C. (2017). Global trends in esophageal cancer. *J Surg Oncol*, *115*(5), 564-579. doi:10.1002/jso.24592
- Morales, C. P., Souza, R. F., & Spechler, S. J. (2002). Hallmarks of cancer progression in Barrett's oesophagus. *Lancet*, *360*(9345), 1587-1589. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11569-8
- Pennathur, A., Gibson, M. K., Jobe, B. A., & Luketich, J. D. (2013). Oesophageal carcinoma. *Lancet*, 381(9864), 400-412. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60643-6
- Perez, A. R., Moncure, A. C., & Rattner, D. W. (2001). Obesity adversely affects the outcome of antireflux operations. *Surg Endosc*, 15(9), 986-989. doi:10.1007/s004640000392
- Perry, Y., Courcoulas, A. P., Fernando, H. C., Buenaventura, P. O., McCaughan, J. S., & Luketich, J. D. (2004). Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass for recalcitrant gastroesophageal reflux disease in morbidly obese patients. *JSLS*, 8(1), 19-23. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14974657</u>
- Souza, R. F. (2007). Molecular mechanisms of acid exposure in Barrett's esophagus. *Inflammopharmacology*, *15*(3), 95-100. doi:10.1007/s10787-007-1550-z
- Uhlenhopp, D. J., Then, E. O., Sunkara, T., & Gaduputi, V. (2020). Epidemiology of esophageal cancer: update in global trends, etiology and risk factors. *Clin J Gastroenterol*, *13*(6), 1010-1021. doi:10.1007/s12328-020-01237-x